3-15-2013

# State v. Widmyer Appellant's Brief Dckt. 39954

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Nature of the Case

Mr. Widmyer entered an *Alford* plea of guilty to a charge of injury to a child. During sentencing the court punished Mr. Widmyer for exercising a fundamental right and rejecting the psychosexual evaluation and polygraph, which were the intended conditions of probation. As a result of Mr. Widmyer invoking his constitutional rights in regard to the psychosexual evaluation and polygraph, the court gave Mr. Widmyer close to the maximum penalty under the statute and did not consider the four objectives of sentencing appropriately.

### Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

On January 5, 2012, Mr. Widmyer entered an *Alford* plea of guilty to a charge of injury of a child, rather than go to trial on felony matters for the third time. (Tr. 752, 754:6-9; R. 442). The *Alford* plea arises from charges brought in May 2008. (Tr. 756:22-23). The charge of injury to a child under I.C. 18-1501(2), is a misdemeanor and punishable by six months and \$1,000.00. (Tr. 801:10, 753:13-14, 793:7-8). The plea Mr. Widmyer entered into contained no factual allegations, and the complaint contained only allegations contained in the statute. (Tr. 795:10-13; R. 171).

On January 27, 2012, Mr. Widmyer was sentenced by the trial court to pay fines and costs totaling \$750.00, 365 days of jail, with 174 suspended and credit for 11 days served. (Tr. 777:24-25, 778:10-11; R. 443). Mr. Widmyer was further placed on two years supervised probation, and ordered to obtain a sex offender evaluation and polygraph. (Tr. 778:14- 779:16; R. 444). When the trial court determined Mr. Widmyer's sentence it concentrated on providing

protection to the public and rehabilitation. (Tr. 777:1-11). During this hearing Mr. Widmyer's attorney reminded the trial court that they were not here on felony sentencing. (Tr. 769:7-22). Mr. Widmyer's attorney further notified the court that Mr. Widmyer had reported and adhered to the conditions of pretrial services since 2008. (Tr. 772:7-15). The conditions Mr. Widmyer had to comply with were the inability to leave the state, reporting to pretrial services weekly, and consuming no alcohol. (Tr. 772:7-15). The court commented it sat through one of Mr. Widmyer's trials and became intimately familiar with the facts of the case. (Tr. 777:13-17).

On April 6, 2012 at a Rule 35 hearing, Mr. Widmyer petitioned the court for leniency because the sentence was excessive at the time of pronouncement, was excessive in light of the information and circumstances arising since pronouncement, the sentence was illegal at the time it was imposed, the sentence improperly encroaches on Mr. Widmyer's constitutional protections against being compelled as a witness against himself, and county supervision of misdemeanor probation is unconstitutional. (Tr. 785:2-17; R. 449-65). The trial court accordingly vacated the sentence because it was illegal as imposed since the statutory maximum was exceeded. (Tr. 789:8; R. 467).

On April 13, 2012 at the second sentencing hearing, Mr. Widmyer had served 81 days of his sentence. (Tr. 793:15-18). The trial court stated, "if the Court places Mr. Widmyer back on probation, it is my intent that he would be required as conditions of that probation to complete a psychosexual and polygraph." (Tr. 800:7- 801:17). Mr. Widmyer rejected the conditions of probation because he declined to obtain a psychosexual evaluation and wanted to preserve his Fifth Amendment right. (Tr. 794:3-11, 802:8-9). Mr. Widmyer further informed the court he has no criminal history, is an attentive father, and does whatever he can to entertain his kids. (Tr. 795:19, 796:4-5). Mr. Widmyer's attorney stated Ms. Widmyer has dealt with numerous issues

since her husband's incarceration, including an inability to leave the house because she cannot plow snow, an inability to take out the garbage because she only has one arm, the complete destruction of their financial situation with imposed costs, and the stress and anxiety of going through this criminal action. (Tr. 794:25 – 795:7). Additionally, since Mr. Widmyer's incarceration, prowlers have been at his house on a regular basis to require the installation of cameras, and the perpetrators have been identified as one of the victims and their father. (Tr. 796). Mr. Widmyer's daughter has been harassed directly from people coming from the victims to tell her nasty things about her father or nasty things about what they are going to see happen to her father. (Tr. 796)

The court decided at the second sentencing hearing to impose a sentence of 156 days in jail with credit for 81, since Mr. Widmyer declined to accept what the court would impose as a condition of probation. (Tr. 801: 18-19; R. 471). Mr. Widmyer's attorney during sentencing reminded the trial court that Mr. Widmyer plead guilty to the misdemeanor, injury to a child. (Tr. 795:8-13). The court reasoned supervised probation with a psychosexual evaluation and a polygraph are in line with protecting the public to make sure if Mr. Widmyer did pose a risk to the public he could get appropriate treatment. (Tr. 800:7-12).

## **ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

- 1. Did the district court abused its judicial discretion in imposition of Mr. Widmyer's sentence?**
- 2. Did the district court imposed an illegal sentence?**
- 3. Did the district court imposed a penalty upon Mr. Widmyer for asserting his 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment right?**

## ARGUMENT

- 1. The district court abused its judicial discretion in imposition of sentence of 156 days in jail because the sentence does not promote the protection of society, is excessive for deterring crime as applied to Mr. Widmyer, and is an excessive punishment.**

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review of whether the sentence is reasonable is abuse of discretion. *State v. Charboneau*, 124 Idaho 497, 861 P.2d 67 (1993). It has been held as long as the sentence is “within the statutory limits, the appellant must show the trial court, when imposing the sentence, clearly abused its discretion.” *State v. Knighton*, 143 Idaho 318, 144 P.3d 23 (2006). The decision of the sentencing court will not be disturbed if reasonable minds could differ whether a sentence is excessive. *Id.* To determine whether the trial court has abused its discretion, the following factors are reviewed:

(1) whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion, (2) whether the trial court acted within the outer bounds of that discretion and consistently with applicable legal standards, and (3) whether the trial court’s decision was founded on and guided by an exercise of judicial reasoning.

*Charboneau*, 861 P.2d at 69 (citing *State v. Hedger*, 115 Idaho 598, 600, 768 P.2d 1331, 1333 (1989)).

### DISCUSSION

In *Charboneau*, the “fundamental requirement in the proper exercise of sentencing discretion is reasonableness.” *Charboneau*, 861 P.2d at 69. The Court will consider the actual term of confinement imposed in light of the “nature of the offense, the character of the offender, and the protection of the public interest” when determining if a sentence is longer than necessary to protect society and achieve “any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation or retribution.” *State v. Stands*, 121 Idaho 1023, 1026, 829 P.2d 1372(Ct.App. 1992)(citing *State v. Shideler*, 103 Idaho 593, 594, 651 P.2d 527, 528 (1982) ). Additionally, the sentence imposed

should meet both the purpose of the “statute under which a defendant is convicted and the particular circumstances surrounding an individual defendant.” *State v. Barnes*, 121 Idaho 409, 411, 825 P.2d 506 (Ct.App. 1992).

Furthermore, in reviewing a sentence, the Court will “conduct an independent examination of the record, focusing upon the nature of the offense and the character of the offender.” *State v. Reinke*, 103 Idaho 771, 772, 653 P.2d 1183, 1184 (Ct.App. 1982). To establish an imposed sentence is improper, the defendant must show the sentence is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts. *Charboneau*, 861 P.2d at 69.

The four objectives of sentencing are: (1) the protection of society, (2) the deterrence of crime both generally and specifically, (3) the possibility of rehabilitation, and (4) punishment or retribution for wrong doing. *Charboneau*, 861 P.2d at 69.

Here, an independent examination of the record showed the nature of the offense is injury to a child, a misdemeanor. Additionally, the record demonstrated the court’s sentence is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts because the sentence does not protect society, is excessive for deterring crime as applied to Mr. Widmyer, does not take into account the possibility of rehabilitation, and the sentence is too harsh for an individual with no criminal history.

The court’s sentencing does not protect society from Mr. Widmyer. Rather, the sentencing of Mr. Widmyer to jail deprives society of a worker paying taxes, a loving father, and husband who helps his wife, who has a missing arm, with the upkeep of the home. Additionally, Mr. Widmyer has not been convicted on any criminal charges prior to his *Alford* plea, and his plea contained no factual allegations. Furthermore, the complaint contained only allegations contained in the statute regarding injury to a child. As this case was brought in May of 2008, and

Mr. Widmyer has not committed or incurred any further criminal charges, despite prowlers coming around his home, which have been identified as one of the victims and their father. Therefore, there is a substantial likelihood Mr. Widmyer is not a risk to society since Mr. Widmyer has no criminal history prior and after the plea, and has shown control over himself despite prowlers going to his house and one of the victims and their father harassing him.

The sentencing exceeds the necessary effect of deterring Mr. Widmyer from committing crime both generally and specifically. Mr. Widmyer has been litigating this criminal matter for close to five years. During this time Mr. Widmyer has experienced a complete destruction of his financial situation with the imposed costs and attorney fees, has dealt with the stress and anxiety of going through this criminal action, and has experienced prowlers around his house on a regular basis requiring the installation of cameras. Moreover, Mr. Widmyer's daughter has been harassed by people coming from the victims to tell her nasty things about her father or about what they are going to see have happen to her father. Lastly, Mr. Widmyer has spent 81 days in jail. Therefore, when looking at all the facts and circumstances Mr. Widmyer has experienced since the charges were brought in 2008, a 156 day jail sentence is excessive. Litigating criminal charges for close to five years, living through two trials regarding the same matter, witnessing both his and his family's life fall apart due to this criminal matter, and spending 81 days in jail has sufficiently deterred Mr. Widmyer from committing any new crimes.

A sentence much shorter in duration would be sufficient to deter Mr. Widmyer from committing crime because Mr. Widmyer has no criminal history except for the *Alford* plea, and has not received any additional charges.

The court's sentencing abused its discretion regarding the possibility of rehabilitation. The court fails to take into account Mr. Widmyer has no criminal history, and is punishing Mr.

Widmyer by imposing the maximum sentence, for refusing to take a polygraph and psychosexual evaluation as a term of probation. During the court's first sentence of Mr. Widmyer, it imposed two years supervised probation with a polygraph and a psychosexual evaluation as conditions to probation. The court also imposed one year incarceration with 169 days suspended when it was under the belief the statute Mr. Widmyer pled guilty to allowed 1 year jail time as opposed to 6 months. Upon Mr. Widmyer's rule 32 motion, the court vacated the sentence due to the sentence exceeding the maximum sentence permitted under I.C. §18-1501(2). At the second sentencing the court would have placed Mr. Widmyer on supervised probation with the same conditions. However, Mr. Widmyer wanted to preserve his 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment right and specifically rejected the polygraph and psychosexual conditions. As a result, Mr. Widmyer was punished for not accepting the illegal terms of probation by the court imposing the maximum sentence available despite having no prior criminal history, and displaying to the court he was not a threat to society as he acquired no further charges since 2008. *See, infra* Argument sec. 2.

Lastly, the trial court acted within the outer bounds of its discretion and improperly sentenced Mr. Widmyer. The trial court sentenced Mr. Widmyer according to the charges he was tried for, rather than the charges he entered his *Alford* plea to. This is evidenced by Mr. Widmyer's attorney reminding the trial court Mr. Widmyer had pled guilty to a misdemeanor, not a felony at both the sentencing hearings; the judge commented he sat though at least one of the trials during the first sentencing hearing; and the judge kept trying to impose conditions of probation which relate to sexual offenders when Mr. Widmyer submitted an *Alford* plea to injury to a child, which contained no allegations of sexual misconduct.

Therefore, the six month jail sentence is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts because Mr. Widmyer is not a risk to society, the sentence exceeds the necessary effect of

detering Mr. Widmyer from committing crime both generally and specifically, and the court refuses probation because Mr. Widmyer declines to take a polygraph and psychosexual evaluation.

**2. The district court imposed an illegal term of probation upon Mr. Widmyer and imposed its sentence in an illegal manner.**

**STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The court will exercise free review over whether a sentence is illegal or was imposed in an illegal manner because it is a question of law. *State v. Clements*, 148 Idaho 82, 84, 218 P.3d 1143 (2009) Idaho Criminal Rule 35 is a narrow rule that allow a trial court to correct an illegal sentence at any time, or to correct a sentence imposed in an illegal manner within 120 days. *State v. Farwell*, 144 Idaho 732, 735, 170 P.3d 397 (2007).

**DISCUSSION**

The court placed as a condition of probation that Mr. Widmyer submit to a polygraph and psychosexual evaluation. The court has discretion in determining whether to place a defendant on probation or to relinquish jurisdiction over the defendant. *State v. Goodgion*, 149 Idaho 17, 20, 232 P.3d 338 (Ct.App. 2010). However, if there is a term of probation not authorized by law, the court should find the court imposed an illegal sentence.

An illegal sentence is narrowly interpreted as a sentence that is illegal from the face of the record. *State v. Clements*, 148 Idaho 82, 86, 218 P.3d 1143 (2009). A sentence must be harmonious with current Idaho law, and the sentence may not impose a penalty that is simply not authorized by law. *Id.* at 86. The court may correct an illegal sentence at any time and may correct a sentence that has been imposed in an illegal manner within 120 days after the filing of a judgment or conviction or within 120 days after the court releases retained jurisdiction. *State v. Peterson*, 148 Idaho 610, 613, 226 P.3d 552 (Ct.App. 2010).

Idaho Code §18-8316 contains the requirement for psychosexual evaluations upon conviction. Here, the I.C. §18-8316 does not pertain to Mr. Widmyer because he submitted an *Alford* plea to injury to a child. Idaho Code §18-8316 provides:

If ordered by the court, an offender convicted of any offense listed in section 18-8304, Idaho Code, may submit to an evaluation to be completed and submitted to the court in the form of a written report from a certified evaluator as defined in section 18-8303, Idaho Code, for the court's consideration prior to sentencing and incarceration or release on probation. The court shall select the certified evaluator from a central roster of evaluators compiled by the sexual offender management board. A certified evaluator performing such an evaluation shall be disqualified from providing any treatment ordered as a condition of any sentence, unless waived by the court. An evaluation conducted pursuant to this section shall be done in accordance with the standards established by the board pursuant to section 18-8314, Idaho Code.

Idaho Code § 18-8304 lists offenses which mainly pertain to sexual misconduct. Here, injury to a child does not fall within any of the offenses listed under I.C. § 18-8304. Additionally, under I.C. § 19-2524, a court may order defendant to take a substance abuse assessment and/or a mental health examination if defendant has pled guilty or been convicted of a felony. Here, Mr. Widmyer pled guilty to a misdemeanor and I.C. § 19-2524 is inapplicable to him. Therefore, the trial court's requirement Mr. Widmyer take a psychosexual evaluation as a condition of probation is an illegal requirement for probation.

Mr. Widmyer rejected probation solely because of the psychosexual examination, and as an alternative to probation was forced to accept the 156 day jail sentence. Since the court is not authorized to require Mr. Widmyer to take a psychosexual examination under I.C. §18-8316, the court tried to impose an illegal sentence, and imposed a six month jail sentence in an illegal manner.

- 3. The district court imposed the maximum sentence, a penalty, upon Mr. Widmyer because he asserted his 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment right.**

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The court will exercise free review over whether a sentence is illegal or was imposed in an illegal manner because it is a question of law. *State v. Clements*, 148 Idaho 82, 84, 218 P.3d 1143 (2009) Idaho Criminal Rule 35 is a narrow rule that allow a trial court to correct an illegal sentence at any time, or to correct a sentence imposed in an illegal manner within 120 days. *State v. Farwell*, 144 Idaho 732, 735, 170 P.3d 397 (2007).

## DISCUSSION

The Idaho Supreme Court held while “no United States Supreme Court case has specifically articulate a Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination as it applies to psychosexual evaluations that may support a harsher sentence in a non-capital case, the case law . . . indicates that the Fifth Amendment applies to psychosexual evaluations.” *Estrada v. State*, 143 Idaho 558, 564, 149 P.3d 833 (2006). A sentence must be harmonious with current Idaho law, and the sentence may not impose a penalty that is simply not authorized by law. *Clements*, 148 Idaho at 86. Additionally, a state may not impose substantial penalties on a person who decides to invoke his 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment right against self-incrimination. *Lefkowitz v. Cunningham*, 431 U.S. 801, 805 (1977). Furthermore, where the government prevents an individual from asserting his 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment privilege by threatening to penalize him should he invoke it creates a “classic penalty situation.” *Minnesota v. Murphy*, 465 U.S. 420, 434, 435 (1984). The Supreme Court of the United States noted there is “a substantial basis in our cases for concluding that if the state, either expressly or by implication, asserts that invocation of the privilege would lead to revocation of probation, it would have created the classic penalty situation.” *Id.* at 435.

In this case, the court expressly asserted Mr. Widmyer would not receive probation if he did not take the psychosexual evaluation, however; would receive probation if he agreed to the

psychosexual evaluation as a condition of probation. This condition for probation is used on defendants who commit a crime of a sexual nature. Mr. Widmyer did not plead guilty to committing a crime of a sexual nature. He pled guilty to injury of a child, and his plea contained no factual allegations, and the complaint contained only the allegations contained in the statute. Therefore, Mr. Widmyer rejected these conditions of probation to preserve his 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment right. Subsequently, the court gave Mr. Widmyer close to the maximum sentence under the statute because Mr. Widmyer wanted to assert his 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment right. Had Mr. Widmyer accepted the terms of probation, the court would have probably sentenced Mr. Widmyer to about three months jail,<sup>1</sup> which would be proportionally consistent with the court's first sentencing of Mr. Widmyer. Therefore, the court gave Mr. Widmyer an illegal sentence because it was based on a penalty and Mr. Widmyer's sentence should be vacated.