6-12-2013

# State v. Widmyer Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39954

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### Widmyer Has Failed To Establish An Abuse Of Sentencing Discretion

##### A. Introduction

Widmyer argues the 156-day jail sentence imposed upon his conviction for misdemeanor injury to a child is excessive and unnecessary to achieve the goals of sentencing. (Appellant's brief, pp.5-9.) As part of his argument, Widmyer also contends the district court abused its discretion by imposing the sentence as a punishment for his refusal to participate in a psychosexual evaluation and polygraph examination as a term of probation. (Id., pp.7-8.) Widmyer's arguments fail. A review of the record and of the applicable law supports the district court's determination that, absent Widmyer's willingness to submit to a psychosexual evaluation and polygraph followed by any necessary treatment, the sentence imposed was necessary to protect society. Widmyer has failed to establish an abuse of discretion.

##### B. Standard Of Review

When a sentence is within statutory limits, the appellate court will review only for an abuse of discretion. State v. Farwell, 144 Idaho 732, 736, 170 P.3d 397, 401 (2007). The appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that the sentencing court abused its discretion. Id.

C. Widmyer Has Failed To Carry His Burden Of Establishing That The 156-Day Jail Sentence Imposed Upon His Conviction For Misdemeanor Injury To A Child Is Excessive Under Any Reasonable View Of The Facts

Where a sentence is within statutory limits, the appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that it is a clear abuse of discretion. State v. Baker, 136 Idaho 576, 577, 38 P.3d 614, 615 (2001) (citing State v. Lundquist, 134 Idaho 831, 11 P.3d 27 (2000)). To carry this burden the appellant must show that the sentence is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts. Baker, 136 Idaho at 577, 38 P.3d at 615. A sentence is reasonable if it appears necessary to achieve the primary objective of protecting society or any of the related sentencing goals of deterrence, rehabilitation or retribution. Id.

Widmyer was originally charged with two felony sex offenses – lewd conduct with a minor under sixteen sexual abuse of a child under the age of sixteen years – but, after two mistrials, he pled guilty to a single amended charge of misdemeanor injury to a child, a crime that carries a statutory maximum penalty of six months in jail. I.C. §§ 18-113, 18-1501(2). Although the amended indictment did not allege any specific injury to the two named victims (see R., pp.404-05), and Widmyer, by virtue of his *Alford* plea, did not admit any facts giving rise to the charge (see generally Tr., pp.752-57), the district court presided over one of Widmyer’s jury trials (see Tr., p.752, Ls.17-20) and, as such, was well aware of the factual basis upon which the injury to a child charge rested. Specifically, the state’s evidence showed that, over a period of several months, Widmyer engaged in what the state’s expert characterized as grooming behavior by ingratiating himself with two of his daughter’s adolescent friends, welcoming

them into his home, sending text messages and giving gifts to one of them, and routinely engaging in wrestling matches and tickle fights with both of them. (See generally Tr., pp.151-270, 271-327, 369-92.) One victim testified that, in May 2008, during a tickle fight, Widmyer put his hand down her pants and underwear and rubbed his fingers on her vagina. (Tr., p.198, L.20 – p.205, L.8, p.209, L.11 – p.210, L.7, p.265, L.4 – p.267, L.25.) The other victim testified that, on a separate occasion in May 2008, also during a tickle fight, Widmyer put his hand down her pants and underwear and touched her near her vagina with his fingertips. (Tr., p.279, L.17 – p.286, L.23, p.300, L.22 – p.301, L.23, p.320, Ls.1-11.) When Widmyer was interviewed by law enforcement he claimed that any inappropriate touching that may have occurred with either victim was unintentional, and that was also his defense at trial. (Tr., p.347, L.24 – p.351, L.20, p.675, L.7 – p.676, L.20, p.714, L.20 – p.715, L.8, p.718, L.15 – p.719, L.21.)

In fashioning an appropriate sentence, the district court specifically recognized that Widmyer disputed the state's evidence and that, ultimately, the jury was unable to reach a verdict as to the original charges. (Tr., p.801, Ls.3-5.) The court also recognized it had discretion, based on Widmyer's *Alford* plea to a reduced charge of misdemeanor injury to a child, to impose up to six months in jail. (Tr., p.801, Ls.5-15.) The court was cognizant of the "huge impact" the charge had on both the victims' and Widmyer's families, and it was "[m]indful of the goals of sentencing," particularly the goal of protecting of society. (Tr., p.800, Ls.7-8, p.800, L.25 – p.801, L.3.) To achieve that goal, the court deemed it

necessary, if it placed Widmyer on probation, to require as a condition of probation that Widmyer obtain a psychosexual evaluation and polygraph “to make sure that [Widmyer] did not pose a risk to the public and if he did, [to] get some appropriate treatment done.” (Tr., p.793, Ls.20-23, p.800, Ls.8-12.) When Widmyer indicated an intent to decline that probation condition, the court determined that the goals of sentencing would best be achieved by the imposition of a 156-day jail sentence, 81 days of which Widmyer had already served. (Tr., p.801, L.16-21.)

Widmyer contends on appeal that, under any reasonable view of the facts, the length of his sentence is not necessary to achieve the protection of society or any of related the goals of sentencing. (Appellant’s brief, pp.6-9.) In advancing this argument, Widmyer asks this Court to focus exclusively on factors he claims are mitigating – including his lack of a prior criminal record, the fact that his family depends on his financial and emotional support, the time and expense he has already spent defending against the allegations, and other negative ramifications the allegations have had on his family – and to ignore entirely the facts that gave rise to the misdemeanor injury to child charge, contending those facts are not relevant and should not have been considered by the district court because they were not specifically alleged in the amended indictment nor admitted by Widmyer pursuant to his *Alford* plea. (Id.) Widmyer’s argument is without merit because it is contrary to well established legal standards applicable to the district court’s sentencing discretion.

In crafting an appropriate sentence, a district court is required to take into account both the nature of the crime and the character of the offender. I.C. § 19-2521(1); State v. Fisch, 142 Idaho 781, 785, 133 P.3d 1246, 1250 (Ct. App. 2006); State v. Toohill, 103 Idaho 565, 568, 650 P.2d 707, 710 (Ct. App. 1982). Where, as here, the defendant has entered an *Alford* plea to a crime, the court is entitled to “treat the defendant, for purposes of sentencing, as if he or she were guilty and may consider – amid assertions of innocence – evidence of the crime, the defendant’s criminal history, and whether the defendant demonstrates remorse.” State v. Baker, 153 Idaho 692, 697, 290 P.3d 1284, 1289 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing, *inter alia*, State v. Howry, 127 Idaho 94, 96, 896 P.2d 1002, 1004 (Ct. App. 1995)) (review denied); see also Steele v. State, 153 Idaho 783, 789, 291 P.3d 466, 472 (Ct. App. 2012) (review denied). The court may also “assess the defendant’s potential for rehabilitation when sentencing by considering that the defendant entered an *Alford* plea and did not admit guilt or fully accept responsibility for the crime.” Baker, 153 Idaho at 697, 290 P.3d at 1289 (citing State v. Leon, 142 Idaho 705, 711, 132 P.3d 462, 468 (Ct. App. 2006)).

Consistent with these legal principles, the district court in this case was entitled to consider not only the mitigating facts cited by Widmyer, but also the evidence of the crime to which he pled guilty and his demonstrated lack of remorse or acceptance of responsibility. That Widmyer entered an *Alford* plea to misdemeanor injury to a child, and not to the sex offenses with which he was originally charged, does not, as suggested by Widmyer on appeal, mean that the district court could not properly consider as a component of its sentencing

determination the evidence presented at Widmyer's trial. As even Widmyer's trial counsel acknowledged at the change of plea hearing, the evidence at Widmyer's "multiple prior trials" actually supplied the factual basis for the injury to child charge to which Widmyer entered his *Alford* plea. (Tr., p.752, Ls.17-19.) Having presided over "at least one" of those trials (Tr., p.752, L.20), the district court appropriately relied on the evidence and testimony presented to inform its sentencing decision.

Contrary to Widmyer's assertions on appeal, there is no indication in the record that the trial court sentenced him "according to the charges he was tried for, rather than the charges [sic] he entered his *Alford* plea to." (Appellant's brief, p.8.) In fact, the record shows just the opposite: The court recognized that the evidence presented at trial was disputed, that the jury ultimately acquitted Widmyer of the sexual offenses on which he stood trial, and that Widmyer was appearing for sentencing on his *Alford* plea to misdemeanor injury to a child, which carried a maximum sentence of six months in jail. (Tr., p.801, Ls.1-16.) The court also implicitly acknowledged the mitigating factors cited by defense counsel, stating it understood the criminal proceedings "had a huge impact on [Widmyer's] family." (Tr., p.801, Ls.1-2.) However, because Widmyer entered an *Alford* plea and did not otherwise make any statements regarding the circumstances of the crime, the only evidence before the court regarding the nature of the offense was that presented at trial. Considering that evidence which showed, at worst, that Widmyer touched the victims inappropriately to gratify his own sexual desires and, at best, that the touching happened but there

was no sexual intent, the district court was understandably concerned that any sentence it imposed be crafted to protect society from the unknown, but potentially very real risk Widmyer presented to commit a sexual offense. (See Tr., p.800, Ls.7-12.) Widmyer has failed to point to anything in the record to demonstrate that the 156-day jail sentence imposed by the court was not reasonable to achieve that end.

Again ignoring the underlying facts of the crime to which he pled guilty and the district court's stated reasons for imposing the sentence it did, Widmyer argues that, by imposing close to the maximum sentence, the district court was simply "punishing" him "for refusing to take a polygraph and psychosexual evaluation as a term of probation." (Appellant's brief, pp.7-8.) This assertion finds no support in the record.

Because Widmyer entered an *Alford* plea, the district court had no information, other than that presented at trial, relating either to the risk Widmyer posed or to his potential for rehabilitation. The court thus determined that, if it were to place Widmyer on probation, a necessary condition of that probation would be that Widmyer participate in a psychosexual evaluation and a polygraph examination such that his risk level could be assessed and any necessary treatment provided. As was his right to do, Widmyer rejected that proposed condition of probation. See State v. McCool, 139 Idaho 804, 807, 87 P.3d 291, 294 (2004) ("A defendant may decline probation when he or she deems its conditions too onerous, and demand instead that he or she be sentenced by the court." (citation, internal quotations and brackets omitted).) As was its right to

do, the court thus imposed and executed the 156-day jail sentence – not to punish Widmyer for refusing to cooperate with a psychosexual evaluation and polygraph, but to protect society from any risk Widmyer posed to reoffend.

Widmyer does not contend that the proposed condition of probation that he participate in a psychosexual evaluation and polygraph was not rationally related to the goal of rehabilitation. Instead, he argues the condition was illegal because it was not authorized by statute and otherwise violated his Fifth Amendment rights. (Appellant's brief, pp.8-12.) Because, for the reasons set forth in Section II, *infra*, the proposed probation condition was not illegal, the district court acted well within its discretion in offering Widmyer the choice to accept that condition or receive a sentence that would otherwise ensure the protection of society.

The district court considered all of the relevant information, acted consistently with the applicable legal standards and imposed a reasonable sentence. Widmyer has failed to show an abuse of discretion.

## II.

### Widmyer Has Failed To Demonstrate From The Record Either That His Sentence Is Illegal Or That It Was Imposed In An Illegal Manner

#### A. Introduction

Widmyer challenges the legality of his sentence and, alternatively, the legality of the manner in which it was imposed. Specifically, he contends the district court lacked authority to require as a condition of probation that he submit to a psychosexual evaluation and polygraph and that giving him the choice to do so or accept an executed jail sentence violated his Fifth Amendment rights.

(Appellant's brief, pp.9-12.) Widmyer's arguments fail. A review of the record and the applicable law shows no illegality either in Widmyer's sentence or the manner in which it was imposed.

B. Standard Of Review

The legality of a sentence is a question of law subject to free review by the appellate court. State v. Clements, 148 Idaho 82, 84, 218 P.3d 1143, 1145 (2009).

C. A Review Of The Record And Applicable Law Shows No Illegality In Widmyer's Sentence Or The Manner In Which It Was Imposed

Idaho Criminal Rule 35 is a "narrow rule" that permits a trial court to correct a sentence imposed in an illegal manner within 120 days of the entry of judgment and to correct an illegal sentence at any time. State v. Peterson, 153 Idaho 157, 161, 280 P.3d 184, 188 (2012) (citing State v. Farwell, 144 Idaho 732, 735, 170 P.3d 397, 400 (2007)). An illegal sentence is "one in excess of a statutory provision or otherwise contrary to applicable law." State v. Alsanea, 138 Idaho 733, 745, 69 P.3d 153, 165 (Ct. App. 2003). Because the 156-day jail sentence imposed by the court in this case is within the statutory maximum six-month sentence proscribed for misdemeanor injury to a child, see I.C. §§ 18-113, 18-1501(2), Widmyer must demonstrate from the record that either the sentence or the manner in which it was imposed was "otherwise contrary to applicable law."

In an attempt to carry his burden on appeal, Widmyer advances two arguments. First, he contends the district court lacked statutory authority to

require as a condition of probation that he submit to a psychosexual evaluation and, “therefore,” the court’s requirement that Widmyer accept the condition of probation or be subject to an executed jail sentence was unlawful. (Appellant’s brief, pp.9-10.) Second, he contends that the execution of a jail sentence on the basis that he was not willing to participate in a psychosexual evaluation and polygraph violated his Fifth Amendment right to be free from self-incrimination. (Appellant’s brief, pp.11-12.) For the reasons that follow, neither of Widmyer’s claims have merit.

Idaho Code § 19-2601(2) authorizes a sentencing court to place defendants on probation subject to “such terms and conditions as it deems necessary and expedient.” This language gives the courts “maximum flexibility” in fashioning the conditions of probation. State v. McCool, 139 Idaho 804, 807, 87 P.3d 291, 294 (2004); State v. Wagenius, 99 Idaho 273, 279, 581 P.2d 319, 325 (1978). The effective limitation on the courts’ discretion is that any condition “must be reasonably related to the purpose of probation, rehabilitation.” McCool, 139 Idaho at 807, 87 P.3d at 294. For the reasons already discussed in Section I, *supra*, the requirement that Widmyer participate in a psychosexual evaluation was reasonably related to his rehabilitation because, without such evaluation, there was no way to accurately assess Widmyer’s risk level and provide him the appropriate treatment.

Without addressing the clear relationship between his rehabilitation and the proposed requirement that he obtain a psychosexual evaluation as a condition of probation, Widmyer argues that the district court was “not authorized

to require [him] to take a psychosexual examination” because he did not plead guilty to a sex offense. (Appellant’s brief, p.10.) To support his argument, Widmyer cites I.C. § 18-8316, which provides in relevant part that, “If ordered by the court, an offender convicted of [an enumerated sex offense] may submit to an evaluation to be completed and submitted to the court ... for the court’s consideration prior to sentencing and incarceration or release on probation.” Widmyer’s reliance on this provision to demonstrate the court lacked authority to order as a condition of probation that Widmyer submit to a psychosexual evaluation is clearly misplaced. Contrary to Widmyer’s assertions, the statute does not limit the court’s authority to order a psychosexual evaluation; it only prescribes the circumstances in which, “[i]f ordered,” certain classes of offenders may submit to such an evaluation. Nothing in the statute prevents a sentencing court from exercising the broad discretion granted to it under I.C. § 19-2601(2) to order a psychosexual evaluation as a condition of probation where such evaluation is otherwise reasonably related to the offender’s rehabilitation.

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